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To the Editor, Catholic Times, Mr Kevin Flaherty

Credo for 11th August 2002.

Fr Francis Marsden


To stand in the very place where Our Lady fell asleep and was assumed into heaven, was a momentous yet deeply peaceful experience.


On holiday last May on the Greek island of Samos, we took the ferry to the Turkish port of Kusadasi. Beyond the old centre and bazaar, Kusadasi is full of modern blocks of flats and tourist condominiums stretching north along the coast. A taxi drove us to the ancient Roman city of Ephesus and further on to the “House of Mary,” Meryem Ana Evi. 

We headed through groves of peaches and mandarin oranges, and then up through the forests by a steeply winding road to Bulbul Dag, the hill of the nightingales, 11 kms from modern Selçuk and 7 km from the ruins of Ephesus.


In the shrine, set within a forest glade, a spirit of deep peace and prayerfulness was tangible, despite the flow of pilgrims and occasional coach parties. Here the most perfect human being ever had dwelt. The place seemed still to carry her total harmony with the Divine Will.


There is a small 13th century Byzantine chapel of russet stone and old Roman bricks. Its west façade is about 5 metres wide, decorated with three brick arches. It is some 8 metres long, and 4 m high. Its roof carries two domes. The central arch provides the entrance door. Inside, beyond the narthex silence is observed and the faithful kneel in prayer. In the eastern apse the altar carries a statue of Jesus. The chapel is warm from banks of candles each side on gravel trays.


To the right one passes into a small almost square cell, with walls of irregular thickness, called sometimes the “Chamber of Mary.” 

Archaeologists date this cell’s foundations to possibly the first century AD, and suspect that other ruins may underlie the whole building.  It contains a large icon of next Thursday’s feast, the Assumption or Dormition of Mary. Jesus receives the soul of His Mother and presents her to His Father, as the apostles and angels gather round. 

Upon the altar in an apsidal niche lies a copy of the Gospels in Turkish. In the corner is a statue of a black Madonna and Child in middle eastern headdress.

On another wall are a pair of tiny child’s shoes and callipers, left after a miraculous healing, and many other thanksgiving offerings (ex votos). There is also an icon of Our Lady of Guadalupe, a token of the universality of the Church. From deep beneath the floor a spring flows out. 

Nearby outside, the excavations have unearthed mosaic floors and terracotta pipes from buildings of the second and third centuries.

The Fathers of the Third Ecumenical Council, held in Ephesus in 431 AD, corroborate the tradition of Mary living out her days near the city.  Ephesus is referred to as “the place where John the Theologian and the Blessed Virgin Mary, Mother of God, arrived.”

St John’s Gospel was probably completed in or near Ephesus around 90-100 AD.  Only this Gospel mentions how the dying Jesus entrusted His Mother into the care of the Beloved Disciple: “Then he said to the disciple: This is your mother. And from that moment on, the disciple made a place for her in his home.”  John 19:26-27.

Other Patristic and medieval writers support the tradition of Mary living near Ephesus. However the rediscovery of the House of Mary is an extraordinary tale. It came about through the visions of a German mystic, Anna Katharina Emmerich (1774-1824).

She was a peasant woman of Westphalia, bedridden with an incurable illness for 12 years. She experienced a series of extraordinarily detailed visions about the lives of Jesus and Mary, which were collated by Clemens Brentano, a poet, and published in two volumes in 1835-42.

In 1890 a copy of Emmerich’s “The Life of the Blessed Virgin” came into the hands of the Lazarist fathers, who lived and taught in the college at Izmir in Turkey, 80 km north of Ephesus. It provided precise details about the house built for Mary by St John:

“After Our Lord’s Ascension, Mary lived for three years on Mount Sion, for three years in Bethany, and for nine years in Ephesus, where St John took her soon after the Jews had set Lazarus and his sisters adrift upon the sea.

Mary did not live in Ephesus itself, but in the countryside nearby where several women who were her close friends had settled. Mary’s dwelling was on a hill to the left of the road from Jerusalem some 3½ hours from Ephesus . . .

 [From Ephesus city] narrow paths lead southwards to a hill, near the top of which is an uneven plateau, so half-hour’s journey in circumference, overgrown, like the hill itself, with wild trees and bush. It was on this plateau that the Jewish settlers had made their home. It is a very lonely place, but has many fertile and pleasant slopes as well as rock caves . .  

John had had a house built for the Blessed Virgin before he brought her here. Several Christian families and holy women had already settled there, some in caves in the earth or in the rocks, fitted out with light woodwork to make dwellings, and some in fragile huts or tents. They had come here to escape violent persecution .  .

As a rule they lived at a quarter of an hour’s distance from each other. The whole settlement was like a scattered village. Mary’s was the only house built of stone. A little way beyond it was the summit of the rocky hill from which one could see over the trees and hills to Ephesus and the sea with its many islands . . “

The Lazarists in Izmir were ideally placed to investigate the accuracy of these visions. They deputed Fr Jung, the most sceptical of the community, for the task. With another priest, also an old soldier from the 1870 war, they set off determined to search the whole mountain of Bulbul Dag and disprove the mystic visions.

Reaching a high plateau, they asked women working in the fields for water, and were directed to “Monastiri,” ten minutes further on in the woods. Here to their amazement they stumbled upon the ruins of an ancient chapel. Everything fitted with the Emmerich descriptions. The locals’ name for the spot was actually Panaya Kapulu, Gate of the Virgin.

A subsequent field trip spent a week measuring and checking the site. In 1882 the Archbishop of Izmir visited the site and accepted the findings of the enquiries. 

Indeed a community of Greek Orthodox Christians, in the village of Sirinçe, 18 km away, traditionally used to make a pilgrimage to Meryem Ani each year on 15th August. It was one of three such local shrines of the Blessed Virgin, the others being Kryphi Panaya (visited on Easter Friday), and Kavakli Panaya (on the Feast of the Presentation). 

Their oral tradition held that Our Lady had moved house because of persecution by the pagans, and Meryem Ani was her safest and final dwelling. 

The 33 churches dedicated to Our Lady in and around Ephesus corroborate this close connection with her presence. In the fields below old Roman Ephesus lie the ruins of the so-called “Church of the Council,” the first Church anywhere to be dedicated to Mary as Mother of God.

In this manner the ancient written sources, local tradition and the amazingly accurate visions of an 18th century mystic all support one another.

Until the rediscovery of Meryem Ani, an underground grotto in Jerusalem, at the foot of Gethsemane, had claimed the title “Mary’s tomb.” However, Pope Leo XIII took the unusual decision of stripping the rival Jerusalem site of all its indulgences.

Following Popes have shown strong interest in the Ephesus site. L’Osservatore Romano noted: “According to the most probable opinion, it is in Ephesus that Mary died.”  Pius X encouraged the excavations to continue. Paul VI and John Paul II both visited the shrine and prayed there.

Although the whereabouts of Mary’s Assumption has not been – and probably cannot be – settled beyond all doubt, the case for Ephesus is strong.

Amidst the now fallen colonnades of old Ephesus, St Paul lived for over two years.  The glorious temples to the Roman gods impart a sense of the overwhelming odds stacked against the great ambassador for Christ. Yet here he probably wrote his greatest Epistles, Romans, Galatians and Corinthians.

A couple of miles away, on a windy hill overlooking the silted up valley of the Meander is the Crusader castle of Selçuk: Within in it lies the early Christian basilica containing the original tomb of St John the Apostle. To stand by the first burial place of the great Apostle and Evangelist, is yet another of Ephesus’ great spiritual treasures.

